1959

John T. Curnutte v. Utah Gas Service Co. et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This matter is before the Supreme Court by way of an intermediate appeal granted by the Court to the Appellant, Erma Ransdell, in 18 separate cases. Since the appeal has been docketed, 16 of the 18 cases have been

disposed of and the appeals dismissed upon stipulation. The two remaining cases to be considered involve the claims of John T. Curnutte and June Curnutte, his wife. As stated in Appellant's Petition for an intermediate appeal, the cases involve actions to recover damages alleged to have resulted from an explosion which occurred at The Lariat Cafe in Monticello, Utah, on August 13, 1956. Service of Summons was not obtained upon Erma Ransdell until after the issue of liability in respect to the Defendant Utah Gas Service Company had been determined. On December 21, 1957, a jury returned a verdict in favor of the several Plaintiffs and against the Defendant Utah Gas Service Company to the effect that said Defendant was negligent, proximately causing damages and injuries to the several Plaintiffs. The extent of the damages of the Plaintiffs has never been tried or determined by the Court.

The acts of negligence complained of by the Plaintiffs in each of the actions now before the Court are the same as those contained in the Sallie Sullivan Case, as follows:

“V. That Defendant Utah Gas Service Company negligently installed its gas pipes and negligently connected the propane gas lines at the said Lariat Cafe.

“VI. That Defendants Erma Ransdell and Harold Ransdell, doing business as the Lariat Cafe, negligently invited the public into their place of business and negligently allowed gas to escape in their places of business.

“VII. That the foregoing negligence of the defendants proximately caused the death of Theodore Smith.” (Tr. 2)

In her answer filed February 6, 1958, Appellant admitted the allegations of Paragraph V, but denied the allegations contained in Paragraph VI. Likewise, the Defendant denied the allegations of Paragraph VII and answered as follows:

“7. Defendant admits that the negligence of the Defendant Utah Gas Service Company proximately caused the death of Theodore Smith, but otherwise denies the allegations of paragraph numbered VII.” (Tr. 4)

Thereafter Plaintiffs Curnutte filed Motions for Summary Judgment “on the issue of liability against the Defendant Erma Ransdell.” At the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment, Plaintiffs for the first time asserted that the negligence of the Utah Gas Service Company was imputed to the Defendant Erma Ransdell, and that by reason of the admission contained in her Answer as above set forth, Appellant had in law admitted her liability to the Plaintiffs. This argument was made notwithstanding the complaint contains no claim that Appellant was liable by reason of the negligent conduct of the Defendant Utah Gas Service Company.

In answer to the foregoing argument Appellant pointed out to the lower court that her Answer had denied the allegations of the Complaint with respect to the claim that she was negligent in any manner, and that, therefore, such a denial presented an issue of fact to be determined by the jury. However, for the purpose of avoiding any confusion on the matter or misunderstanding as to her position, Appellant moved to amend her Answer, as follows:

“IV. Answering Paragraph numbered IV, [V]Defendant admits that the Utah Gas Service Company negligently installed its gas pipes leading to Defendant’s place of business, but otherwise denies the allegations of said paragraph. Defendant further specifically denies that the said Utah Gas Service Company was negligent in any manner or in respect to any acts or conduct which the law might impute to Defendant Erma Ransdell or for which she might be held liable.” (Tr. 15)

The Motion for Summary Judgment was taken under advisement by the District Court as was Defendant’s Motion to amend her Answer. Thereafter, the Court rendered its judgment determining that “the Plaintiff do have and recover against the defendant Erma Ransdell, doing business as the Lariat Cafe, all damages suffered by her as a proximate result of the explosion at the Lariat Cafe in Monticello, Utah, August 13, 1956.” (Tr. 17) At the same time the Court denied Defendant’s motion to amend her Answer. (Tr. 19) This Court thereafter granted an Interlocutory Appeal from the order granting a Summary Judgment entered by the District Court.” (Tr. 20)

FACTS

Before proceeding to an analysis of the legal issues involved, we would like to give to the Court a brief statement of the facts giving rise to this litigation as contained in the depositions on file in the case and designated for transmittal to this court by the Respondents. The Defendant Utah Gas Service Company is a public utility operating under the direction and supervision of the

Public Service Commission of the State of Utah. Pursuant to authority granted by the Public Service Commission, Utah Gas Service Company proposed to serve the inhabitants of Monticello, Utah, with natural gas from the company's transmission lines. Sometime prior to August 13, 1956, a representative of the Gas Company approached Appellant Erma Ramsdell, who owned and operated the Lariat Cafe in Monticello, Utah, and asked her if she would like to convert over to natural gas. At that time Appellant was using propane gas for operating certain appliances in the cafe. Mrs. Ramsdell agreed to accept the natural gas service from the Utah Gas Service Company, and it was agreed that the company "would have their man come down and put the rough-in pipe and then they would connect the appliances for us on the day we were closed which was Sunday." Nothing was said about what would be done, if anything, with the propane lines leading into the cafe. (Ransdell deposition, p. 23, 24.)

The Gas Company sent its workmen down to rough in the piping which was completed on Saturday, August 11, 1956, and the final installation was done the following day while the cafe was closed. The only thing Mrs. Ramsdell was requested to do was to leave the door of the cafe unlocked so that the workmen could have access to the premises. (Ransdell deposition, p. 26, 27.) At the time of closing the safe on Saturday evening, the appliances which were being operated by propane were left in the same condition they were normally left on Saturday night, with just the pilot light burning under the coffee urn. (p. 28)

On Sunday, August 12, Mrs. Ransdell noticed the workmen engaged in the work of connecting the natural gas to the cafe and observed them going in and out, but otherwise knew nothing about what was going on. As testified by her, "I didn't know anything about the pipe work." (p. 29) Late on the evening of August 12, she made a final check of the cafe to see that everything was in readiness for the following day. She observed that the flame under the coffee was not burning high enough to keep the water at the temperature desired so she called and left word for the workmen to come in and check it the next morning. The next day someone did come and check the appliances but she had difficulty with the coffee urn keeping the water hot even after the check was made. (pp. 30-32) There was some difficulty experienced in obtaining sufficient hot water from the hot water heater and the cook called to have someone come down to check it, which was done. (p. 33)

Mrs. Ransdell was at the cafe all day Monday except for approximately 15 or 20 minutes. During the day no employee or customer made any complaint that there was any odor of gas; nor did Mrs. Ransdell observe any even though several trips were made to the basement area in the course of delivery of groceries. (p. 34, 35)

In response to a leading question by counsel for Respondents, Appellant confirmed that: "There was nothing there to cause you any alarm or to give you any indication whatsoever that there might be any kind of leak or any means by which gas might be escaping in your building." (Ransdell deposition, p. 35, 36)

Appellant was working in the cafe at the time of the explosion, which occurred during the height of the evening rush hour. She herself was very seriously injured and filed suit against the Gas Company claiming negligence of the company in installing its gas lines and disconnecting the propane lines at the cafe. The action by Appellant was thereafter compromised and settled by the Gas Company.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

The points which are raised by Appellant in each of the cases before this Court are as follows :

1. The alleged negligence of the Defendant Utah Gas Service Company cannot be imputed to Appellant Erma Ransdell as a matter of law.

2. Under the pleadings of this case, Appellant has the right to a trial by jury on the issue of liability.

3. The Court erred in refusing to allow Appellant to file a clarifying amendment to her Answer.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE ALLEGED NEGLIGENCE OF THE DEFENDANT UTAH GAS SERVICE COMPANY CANNOT BE IMPUTED TO APPELLANT ERMA RANDELL AS A MATTER OF LAW.

In discussing the above issue we must keep in mind that the lower Court's decision was made on a motion for summary judgment. Under *Rule 56, U. R. C. P., subdivision (c)* of this Rule provides in part as follows :

“The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.”

In discussing the role of a motion for summary judgment, Professor Moore in his work on *Federal Practice*, Vol. 6, p. 2057, has this to say:

“A summary judgment is a judgment in bar that results from an application of substantive law to facts that are established beyond reasonable controversy. The purpose of the hearing on the motion for such a judgment is not to resolve factual issues. It is to determine whether there is any genuine issue of material fact in dispute; and, if not, to rendered judgment in accordance with the law as applied to the established facts, otherwise to deny the motion for summary judgment and allow the action to proceed to a trial of the disputed facts. The party moving for summary judgment has the burden of establishing that the material facts are not in dispute; and the function of his motion is analogous to the motion for directed verdict.”

In considering such a motion, the court must resolve any question against the moving party. As further stated by *Professor Moore*, (Ibid, p. 2123-2126):

“The courts are in entire agreement that the moving party for summary judgment has the burden of showing the absence of any genuine issue as to all the material facts, which, under applicable principles of substantive law, entitle him to

judgment as a matter of law. The courts hold the movant to a strict standard. To satisfy his burden the movant must make a showing that is quite clear what the truth is, and that excludes any real doubt as to the existence of any genuine issue of material fact. Since it is not the function of the trial court to adjudicate genuine factual issues at the hearing on the motion for summary judgment, in ruling on the motion all inferences of fact from the proofs proffered at the hearing must be drawn against the movant and in favor of the party opposing the motion. And the papers supporting movant's position are closely scrutinized, while the opposing papers are indulgently treated, in determining whether the movant has satisfied his burden."

The only negligence alleged by Respondents in their Complaints against the Utah Gas Service Company was that the company "negligently installed its gas lines and negligently disconnected the propane gas lines at the said Lariat Cafe." As to such negligence there has been no determination made in this case as to what specific acts on the part of the Utah Gas Service Company were negligent in respect to the installation of its gas line and disconnecting the propane gas lines. The negligence might very well consist of any one of a number of acts with respect to the over-all operation of connecting the service line to the gas company's main line by reason of which the gas was allowed to seep along the service line and into the cafe. Or it could consist of improperly testing the lines which resulted in gas escaping from any one of the connections along the main line of the gas company or the service line leading from the main line into the Cafe where the attachment was made to the appliances.

Respondents have not contended that the appliances in the Cafe were improperly adjusted or connected or that they were dangerous or defective so as to allow gas to escape from such appliances and cause the explosion. On the contrary, the negligence complained of is the negligence of the gas company in connecting its gas pipes and disconnection of the propane gas lines at the Cafe.

Respondents claim that because Appellant admits the negligence of the Utah Gas Service Company in disconnecting the propane line and in connecting its gas pipes, she has also admitted her negligence because, Respondents urge, the negligence of the Utah Gas Service Company is imputed to Erma Ransdell as a matter of law. The fact that a jury has heretofore found that the Defendant Utah Gas Service Company was negligent would in no way be binding upon the Defendant Erma Ransdell since she has not had her day in Court and would still be entitled to have the matter heard and determined by a jury both as to her own acts as well as to any acts of the Utah Gas Service Company which it might be claimed would be imputed to her. Nor can it be ascertained from the verdict of the jury heretofore rendered what acts of negligence the jury found that the Utah Gas Service Company had committed. Thus Defendant Erma Ransdell maintains that she is entitled to have the jury determine whether there were said acts of negligence on the part of the Utah Gas Service Company in this particular case as would be imputed to her.

Since the Respondents have at all times conceded that the Utah Gas Service Company was an independent

contractor with respect to the work which it performed in connecting its gas lines to the appliances at the Lariat Cafe, it is difficult to see why the Respondents urge that the acts of such independent contractor would be imputed to the owner of the premises.

With respect to the acts of an independent contractor, our Supreme Court has recently laid down the general rule of law applicable to the liability of the owner of property. In the case of *Morley v. Rodberg*, 7 Utah 2d 299, 323 P. 2d 717, the court held that the evidence sustained a finding that an automobile mechanic who was road testing a car with the owner present in the vehicle was an independent contractor so that the owner was not liable for the negligent acts of the mechanic in the operation of the automobile. This determination is in accord with the general principle announced by *Prosser on Torts, Second Edition*, Chapter 5, Section 32, that "In the ordinary case, one who employs an independent contractor to do work on his premises may leave all responsibility to him, and is not liable for his negligence."

The duty of the owner or occupier of premises toward a business invitee is well stated in *Prosser on Torts, Second Edition*, Chapter 15, Sec. 78, as follows:

"The occupier is not an insurer of the safety of invitees, and his duty is only to exercise reasonable care for their protection. He must not only warn the visitor of dangers of which he knows, but must also inspect the premises to discover possible defects. *There is no liability, however, for harm resulting from conditions from which no unreasonable risk was to be anticipated, or those which the occupier did not know and could not have*

discovered with reasonable care. The mere existence of a defect or danger is not enough to establish liability, unless it is shown to be of such a character or of such duration that the jury may reasonably conclude that due care would have discovered it." (Emphasis added)

In 38 Am. Jur. "Negligence," Sec. 96, the rule is similarly stated:

"The rule is that an owner or occupant of lands or building, who directly or impliedly invites others to enter for some purpose of interest or advantage to him, owes to such persons a duty to use ordinary care to have his premises in a reasonably safe condition for use in a manner consistent with the purpose of invitation, or at least not to lead them into a dangerous trap or to expose them to an unreasonable risk, but to give them adequate and timely notice and warning of latent or concealed perils which are known to him but not to them. Summarily stated, to the extent of the invitation given a property owner owes to an invitee the duty of prevision, preparation, and lookout. An owner in occupation of the premises violates his duty to an invitee when he negligently allows conditions to exist on the property which imperil the safety of persons upon the premises . . . If there are hidden dangers upon the premises, he must use ordinary care to give warning thereof. The liability of the proprietor of a hotel to his guests and of a storekeeper to his customers rests upon the foregoing principles.

"As hereinbefore stated, an owner or occupant of premises is not liable as an insurer of the safety of persons whom he has invited to enter. His liability to them for injuries which they may sustain while upon his premises must be predicated upon his negligence." (Emphasis added)

Section 97 goes on to state:

“The liability of an owner or occupant to an invitee for negligence in failing to render the premises reasonably safe for the invitee, or in failing to warn him of dangers thereon, must be predicated upon a superior knowledge concerning the dangers of the premises to persons going thereon. It is when the perilous instrumentality is known to the owner or occupant and not known to the person injured that a recovery is permitted. . . . Thus, a property owner is not liable for injury to one whom he permits to inspect the premises, with a view to leasing them, by an explosion of gas escaping from a pipe which an outgoing tenant had disconnected without shutting off the flow of gas, without the knowledge of the property owner or reasonable opportunity on his part to discover the fact.”

The case referred to in the above quotations is *Leonard v. Enterprise Realty Company* (Ky. 1920) 219 S. W. 1066, 10 A. L. R. 238.

In the Leonard case, Plaintiff was passing an apartment house when he observed that a tenant was moving out. He obtained a key to the apartment from one of the people who were engaged in the moving operation. He then went to the general office of the Defendant and asked for permission to inspect the vacant apartment, which permission was given. Upon entering the apartment, he struck a match to find his way. An explosion occurred. Subsequent inspection revealed that the gas cock had been left on when the gas stove had been disconnected from the line. In an action by Plaintiff against Defendant for damages, judgment of no cause of action was rendered.

On appeal, this judgment was affirmed, the court held that one who expressly or by implication invites another to come upon his premises for business is not an insurer, but owes to such invitee the duty of being reasonably sure that such invitee will not be subjected to danger and the owner must exercise ordinary care to keep said premises reasonably safe. Where the Plaintiff had permission from the Defendant to inspect the premises when the Plaintiff had not had a reasonable opportunity to ascertain or determine that the gas had not been properly disconnected by someone in the employ of the Defendant, the Defendant could not be held liable for damages resulting.

In the annotation on this case, 10 A. L. R. 238, appears the comment that the Leonard Case is in accord with the general rule laid down by the authorities to the effect that an owner or occupant of property owes invitees a duty to exercise reasonable care to have his premises in a reasonably safe condition, and to give warning of any latent or concealed perils.

Our own Supreme Court has laid down a similar principle with respect to the duty of an occupier of premises to an invitee in several cases. In *Johnson v. Cudahy Packing Company*, 107 Utah 114, 152 P. 2d 98, appears the following quotation:

“The best statement of the liability of the occupier of premises toward an invitee which has come to our attention may be found in Bohlen, “Studies in the Law of Torts,” p. 183. The rule is there stated as follows:

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