1960

# John T. Curnutte v. Utah Gas Service Co. et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

DEFENDANT ERMA RANDELL IS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE NEGLIGENCE OF UTAH GAS SERVICE COMPANY IN THE INSTALLATION OF THE NATURAL GAS PIPES AND IN THE REMOVAL OF THE PROPANE GAS LINES.

The best statement of the principles upon which plaintiffs rely for recovery is stated in *Prosser on Torts* (2d Ed.) 357 as follows:



“The employer of an independent contractor may be liable for any negligence of his own in connection with the work to be done. But the common law ‘rule’ has been that he is not liable vicariously for the torts of the contractor. To this rule certain ‘exceptions’ have been developed, which indicate a tendency to place the contractor upon the same footing as a servant. The more important exceptions are:

“a. Where the employer is under a duty to the plaintiff which the law considers that he is not free to delegate to the contractor.

“b. Where the work to be done is inherently dangerous to others, or will be dangerous unless particular precautions are taken.

“Even under these exceptions, it is commonly held that the employer will be liable only for risks inherent in the work itself, and not for ‘collateral’ negligence of the contractor.”

The case at bar comes within both of these so-called “exceptions.” Prosser further states on the same page:

“Against this argument (of no control — no vicarious liability), it has been contended that the enterprise is still the employer’s, since he remains the person primarily to be benefited by it; that he selects the contractor, and is free to insist upon one who is financially responsible, and to demand indemnity from him, and that the insurance necessary to distribute the risk is properly a cost of his business. Upon this basis, the prediction has been made that ultimately the ‘general rule’ will be

that the employer is liable for the negligence of an independent contractor, and that he will be excused only in a limited group of cases where he is not in a position to select a responsible contractor, or the risk of any harm to others from the enterprise is obviously slight. The English courts have taken steps in this direction, until the position of the ordinary independent contractor approaches that of a servant. The American courts, while they have not gone so far, have whittled away at the rule of non-liability with exceptions, to the point where it is not easy to say that any 'general rule' remains."

We will consider the admitted facts and the authorities under each one of these so called exceptions.

### *Non-Delegable Duty*

Under the undisputed facts in this case, defendant had a non-delegable duty to her patrons to keep and maintain the premises of the Lariat Cafe in a reasonably safe condition. She could not delegate this duty to anyone. There can be no question that maintenance of the gas pipes and their proper installation would be a part of this non-delegable duty. The defendant was operating a public place and inviting members of the public to come in and eat at her cafe. She thereby assumed this obligation.

*Prosser on Torts* (2d Ed.) 359, states the rule as follows:

"Again, it has been held in many instances that the employer's enterprise, and his relation to the plaintiff, is such as to impose upon him a duty

which cannot be delegated to the contractor. It has been mentioned earlier that there are numerous situations in which it may be negligence to rely upon another person, and the defendant is not relieved of the obligation of taking reasonable precautions himself. But the cases of 'non-delegable duty' go further, and hold the employer liable for the negligence of the contractor, although he has himself done everything that could reasonably be required of him. They are thus cases of vicarious liability. Such a duty may be imposed by statute, by contract, by franchise or charter, or by the common law. The catalogue is a long one: the duty of a carrier to transport its passengers in safety, of a railroad to fence its tracks properly or to maintain safe crossings, and of a municipality to keep its streets in repair; the duty to afford lateral support to adjoining land, to refrain from obstructing or endangering the public highway, *to keep premises reasonably safe for business visitors*, to provide employees with a safe place to work, and many others. It is difficult to suggest any criterion by which the non-delegable character of such duties may be determined, other than the conclusion of the courts that the responsibility is so important to the community that the employer should not be permitted to transfer it to another. So far as they may be willing to broaden the category in the future, the law may approach an ultimate rule that any duty which can be found to rest upon the employer himself cannot be delegated to an independent contractor."

The rule is stated in 2 *Harper & James, The Law of Torts*, § 26.11, page 1406, as follows:

"There are also situations wherein the law views a person's duty as so important and so peremptory that it will be treated as non-delegable. Defendants who are under such a duty '... cannot, by employing a contractor, get rid of their own duty to other people, whatever that duty may be.' "

\* \* \*

"Some common law duties are also non-delegable. Thus the landlord's duty of care to keep the common approaches in reasonable condition for several tenants, and the land occupier's duty of care to keep the premises reasonably safe for invitees or for adjacent owners or highway travelers, may not be avoided by the employment of independent contractors. In all these cases the employer is as liable for the conduct of the contractor as though it were his own."

The principle relied upon is also set forth in 2 *Restatement of the Law of Torts*, § 425, as follows:

"One who employs an independent contractor to maintain in safe condition

- (a) land which he holds open to the entry of the public as his place of business, or
- (b) a chattel which he supplies for others to use for his business purposes or which he leases for immediate use,

is subject to the same liability for bodily harm caused by the contractor's negligent failure to maintain the land or chattel in reasonably safe condition, as though he had retained its maintenance in his own hands."

Two of the illustrative cases show that this section is particularly applicable to the case at bar:

"1. A operates a department store. He employs the B Elevator Company to repair his elevators therein. Due to the negligence of the B Company, the elevator is dangerously defective. It falls and harms C who has come to buy and D who has come to the shop to look over the goods displayed. A is subject to liability to C and D.

"2. A operates a hotel. He employs B as a plumber to install a shower bath. B negligently transposes the handles so that the hot water pipe is labeled cold. C, a guest, deceived by the label, turns on the hot water and is scalded. A is subject to liability to C."

*Section 422* also applies this same principle:

"A possessor of land who entrusts the repair of a building or other structure thereon to an independent contractor is subject to the same liability to persons within or outside the land who are injured by the contractor's negligent failure to put or maintain the building or structure in reasonably safe condition as though he had retained the making of the repairs in his own hands."

It is stated in the comment at Page 1138 as follows:

"\* \* \* The duty which a possessor of land owes to others to put and maintain it in reasonably safe condition is nondelegable. If an independent contractor, no matter how carefully selected, is employed to perform it, the possessor is answerable for harm caused by the negligent failure of his contractor to put or maintain the buildings and structures in reasonably safe condition, irrespec-

tive of whether the contractor's negligence lies in his incompetence, carelessness, inattention or delay."

The following cases recognize and apply the principle here contended for by plaintiff. *Knell v. Morris*, 39 Cal. 2d 450, 247 P. 2d 352 (1952), *Brown v. George Pepperdine Foundation*, 23 Cal. 2d 256, 143 P. 2d 929 (1943), *Bazzoli v. Nance's Sanitarium*, 109 Cal. App. 2d. 232, 240 P. 2d 672 (1952) *Courtell v. McEachen*, (Cal. App.) 315 P. 2d 351 (1957), *Myers v. Little Church By The Side of the Road*, 37 Wash. 2d 397, 227 P. 2d 165, (1951), *Snyder v. Southern California Edison Co.*, 44 Cal. 2d 793, 285 P. 2d 912 (1955), *Grinnell v. Carbide & Carbon Chemicals Corp.*, 282 Mich. 509, 276 N.W. 535, *Bailey v. Zlotnick*, 149 F. 2d 505 (DC-1945), *Lilienthal v. Hastings Clothing Co.*, 131 Cal. App. 2d 343, 280 P. 2d 824 (1955); *Gill v. Krussner*, 11 N.J. Super. 10, 77 A. 2d 462 (1950).

We submit that all of the foregoing cases are authorities in favor of plaintiffs' position. We will review and quote from only a part of them.

In the *Knell* case, *supra*, a non-suit was reversed. Plaintiff owned a luggage store and the floor above was occupied by defendant MacMar, Inc. It had a water heater which began to leak. Defendant Morris, a plumber, was called to fix it. He used a radiator compound, left the heater going, and it leaked, causing plaster in plaintiff's place of business to fall. In reversing this dismissal the court stated:

"Inasmuch as the evidence is sufficient to support a finding that Morris was negligent, it was error to grant a nonsuit as to MacMar, Inc. The fact that Morris was acting in the capacity of an independent contractor does not necessarily absolve the corporation from liability. The general rule of nonliability of an employer for the acts of an independent contractor is subject to numerous exceptions. See *Brown v. George Pepperdine Foundation*, 23 Cal. 2d 256, 143 P. 2d 929; *McCordic v. Crawford*, 23 Cal. 2d 1, 142 P. 2d 7; *Taylor v. Oakland Scavenger Co.*, 17 Cal. 2d 594, 110 P. 2d 1044; *Snow v. Marian Realty Co.*, 212 Cal. 622, 299 P. 720; *Luce v. Holloway*, 156 Cal. 162, 103 P. 886; Rest., Torts, §§ 410-429; Prosser on Torts, 1933, p. 645 et seq.; 23 A.L.R. 984. There is evidence in the present case which is sufficient to support finding in favor of plaintiffs under at least one of these exceptions, and it is unnecessary for us to consider whether MacMar may be liable under any other theory.

"It is well settled that the possessor of land is answerable for the negligent failure of an independent contractor to put or maintain buildings and structures thereon in reasonably safe condition. See Rest., Torts, § 422. This principle was recently applied in *Brown v. George Pepperdine Foundation*, 23 Cal. 2d 256, 143 P. 2d 929, to hold the owner of premises liable for the defective condition of an elevator."

In the Bazzoli case, *supra*, an action was brought to recover for personal injuries. Defendant employed plaintiff to put an additional layer on the floor in defendant's building. Defendant agreed to chip the first layer of cement so the second layer would stick and it employed

one Grimsley to do this. Plaintiff went upon the floor to pour the cement, his leg went through the floor and into a reservoir of scalding water underneath. Judgment for plaintiff was affirmed. Defendant argued that Grimsley was an independent contractor. Following the Brown case, *supra*, the court stated:

“Even though we were able to agree with appellant’s contention that Grimsley was an independent contractor, this would not relieve appellant from its obligation and duty toward an invitee as hereinbefore set forth.”

In the Lilienthal case, *supra*, a clothing store owner and an independent contractor that waxed the store floor were sued for personal injuries received by plaintiff who fell on the floor. Judgment for defendants was reversed for errors in the instructions. The court stated:

“The questioned instruction included the following advice: ‘If a person does work for another, as an independent contractor, then under the law the person for whom the work was done is not responsible or liable for any act done by such independent contractor.’

“In many cases that would be a correct statement, but not in this case. A store owner does not discharge his full duty toward business invitees by delegating care of the premises to an independent contractor. ‘It is well settled that the possessor of land is answerable for the negligent failure of an independent contractor to put or maintain buildings and structures thereon in reasonably safe condition.’ Knell v. Morris, 39 Cal. 2d 450, 456, 247 P. 2d 352, 355. See also Brown v. George



Pepperdine Foundation, 23 Cal. 2d 256, 260, 143 P. 2d 929; McCordie v. Crawford, 23 Cal. 2d 1, 142 P. 2d 7; Restatement of the Law of Torts, § 422."

We submit that the negligence of the Utah Gas Service Company an independent contractor, is imputable to defendant Erma Ransdell on the grounds that her duty to her patrons and members of the public was nondelegable. It was the same as though defendant herself negligently installed and disconnected the gas pipes.

### *Inherently Dangerous*

The installation and removal of gas lines is inherently dangerous to others and certainly would be dangerous unless particular precautions are taken to prevent leakage.

Both natural gas and propane gas have explosive propensities. If they are permitted to leak in buildings they accumulate and any spark or flame may touch off an explosion. Gas must be handled with care to prevent this from happening. Hence the work which defendant employed Utah Gas Service Company to do comes within this so called exception to the rule insulating an employer of an independent contractor from liability. The acts of the Gas Company in installing and removing the gas lines became the acts of defendant and since negligently performed, she is liable for the resulting damages. Prosser on Torts (2d Ed.) 360, 2 Harper and James, The Law of Torts § 26.11, page 1408.

The rule is stated in 27 Am. Jur. 515, Independent Contractors, section 38, as follows:

“It is well settled that one who orders work to be executed, from which, in the natural course of things, injurious consequences must be expected to arise unless means are adopted by which such consequences may be prevented, is bound to see that necessary steps are taken to prevent the mischief, and such person cannot relieve himself of his responsibility by employing someone else, whether the contractor employed to do the work from which the danger arises or some third person, to do what is necessary to prevent the work from becoming wrongful. This rule is sufficiently comprehensive to embrace, not only work which, from its descriptions, is ‘inherently’ or ‘intrinsically dangerous,’ but also work which will, in the ordinary course of events, occasion injury to others if certain precautions are omitted, but which may, as a general rule, be executed with safety if those precautions are adopted.”

The principle is thus propounded in 2 *Restatement of Law of Torts*, § 427:

“One who employs an independent contractor to do work which is inherently dangerous to others is subject to liability for bodily harm caused to them by the contractor’s failure to exercise reasonable care to prevent harm resulting from the dangerous character of the work.”

This Court recognized the dangerous characteristics of gas in *Loos v. Mountain Fuel Supply Co.*, 99 Utah 496, 108 P. 2d 254, (1940) when it stated:

“It is true that as a supplier of a dangerous substance a gas company is bound to high degree of care \* \* \*.”

The courts generally recognize the highly dangerous character of gas and its tendency to escape. See *Annotation 26 A.L.R. 2d 136* at 146. This same view is taken of butane gas. *Annotation 17 A.L.R. 2d 880* at 881.

Applications of this exception or principle may be found in the following cases: *Burke v. Thomas* (Okl.), 313 P. 2d 1082 (1957); *Ulmen v. Schwieger*, 92 Mont. 331, 128 P. 2d 856 (1932); *Thompson-Cadillac Co. v. Matthews*, 173 Wash. 353, 23 P. 2d 399 (1933); *Pendergrass v. Lovelace*, 57 N.M. 661, 262 P. 2d 231 (1953); *Fegles Construction Co. v. McLaughlin Construction Co.*, 205 F. 2d 637 (9CCA-1953).

We submit that installation and removal of the gas pipes were such operations that from their very nature injurious consequences could be expected unless means were adopted to avoid those consequences. The installation and removal of pipe are fraught with potentialities of danger to any persons who might be in and about the cafe. Hence the negligence of the gas company is imputable to defendant under this principle.

### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

We will here undertake to answer the arguments made by defendant in her brief in the order in which they there appear.

*Non-Liability of Employer of  
Independent Contractor*

(Brief of Appellant, page 11)

Defendant asserts that an employer of an independent contractor is not liable for the negligence of the independent contractor, contending that our Supreme Court has recently so held in *Morley v. Rodman*, 7 Utah 2d 299, 323 P. 2d 717.

The issue presented in the case at bar was not before the court in the Morley case. No contention was made that the defendant owner of the automobile would be liable for the negligent acts of the driver even if he were an independent contractor. It was apparently conceded by the parties that if the driver were an independent contractor there would be no liability on the part of the owner.

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